027

427

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

FILED
SID J. WHITE
APR 3 1992
CLERK, SUPREME COURT
By *[Signature]*
Chief Deputy Clerk

DAVID DELL'ORFANO

Petitioner,

v.

Case No.: 79,506

4th DCA Appeal No.: 90-00955

STATE OF FLORIDA

Respondent.

_____ /

On Petition for Discretionary Review of a
Decision of the Fourth District Court of Appeal
of the State of Florida

INITIAL BRIEF OF PETITIONER

✓
JOSEPH DeGANCE, P.A.
1995 E. Oakland Park Boulevard
Suite 101
Fort Lauderdale, FL 33306
(305) 566-1531
FBN 155360

Attorney for Petitioner

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND OF THE FACTS

Petitioner David Dell'Orfano **was** charged by information with one count of sexual battery on a person less than twelve years of age and three counts of lewd or lascivious assault. All acts were alleged to have occurred "on one or more occasions between the 1st day of August, A.D. 1985 and the 30th day of June, A.D. 1988 inclusive." (R. 49).

Petitioner filed a Motion for Statement of Particulars (R. 52) and a Motion to Dismiss. (R. 54). The latter motion argued that the thirty-five month time period alleged in the information was too vague and indistinct to permit the preparation of an adequate defense, and also raised the danger of multiple prosecutions for the same offense, all in violation of the Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure and the Fourteenth Amendment of the United States Constitution. (R. 54-63).

A hearing on the Motion to Dismiss was held before the Honorable Robert Carney. (R. 1-48). At that hearing the State narrowed the time-frame involved to the period from January 1986 through June 30, 1988, a **period of twenty-seven months.** (R. 37).

For purposes of argument, the court below assumed that the State could not further narrow that twenty-seven month time-frame. (R. 38). After reviewing the

case law, the court held that as a matter of law the period of twenty-seven months was too broad to allow for the preparation of an adequate defense, and accordingly dismissed the information. (R. 40-42).

The State timely appealed the dismissal to the Fourth District Court of Appeal, which reversed the order of dismissal and remanded for further proceedings. *State v. Dell'Orfano*, 592 So.2d 338 (Fla. 4th DCA 1992). In so doing, the Fourth District certified conflict with *Goble v. State*, 535 So.2d 706 (Fla. 5th DCA 1988).

Petitioner filed a timely Notice to Invoke Discretionary Jurisdiction, and this Court entered its **Order** Postponing Decision on Jurisdiction and directed the filing of briefs on the merits.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure are structured to assure that the time and place of an alleged offense are stated as definitely as possible so that the accused can prepare an adequate defense. Fla. R. **Crim. P. 3.140(d)(3)**.

Situations, however, may arise wherein the good-faith efforts of the State nevertheless result in a time-frame that on its face imposes an unreasonable burden upon the accused. The rules contemplate that the

trial court may exercise its "opinion" in such circumstances, Fla. Crim. P. 3.140(o), and grant an accused the remedy of dismissal when the State fails to establish a lack of prejudice to the defendant. Such a determination must be made on a case-by-case basis and, in the absence of an abuse of discretion, the judgment of the trial court should not be disturbed.

ARGUMENT

THE COURT OF APPEALS ERRED IN REQUIRING THAT THE ACCUSED ESTABLISH "SPECIFIC PREJUDICE" FROM **THE** TWENTY-SEVEN MONTH TIME-FRAME ALLEGED FOR THE OFFENSE. THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION IN ALLOCATING THE BURDEN TO THE STATE TO SHOW A LACK OF PREJUDICE TO THE ACCUSED.

Two distinct rules protect the accused from overbreadth in charging instruments.

Rule 3.140(d)(3), Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure, provides:

(3) Time and Place. Each count of an indictment or information upon which the defendant is to be tried shall contain allegations stating as definitely as possible the time and place of the commission of the offense charged in the act or transaction or on two or more acts or transactions connected together, provided the court in which the indictment or information is filed has jurisdiction to try all of the offenses charged.

Rule 3.140(o), Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure, provides:

(o) Defects and Variances. No indictment or information, or any count thereof, shall be dismissed or judgment arrested, or new trial granted on account of any defect in the form of the indictment or information or of misjoinder of offenses or for any cause whatsoever, unless the court shall be of the opinion that the indictment or information is so vague, indistinct and indefinite as to mislead the accused and embarrass him in the preparation of his defense or expose him after conviction or acquittal to substantial danger of a new prosecution for the same offense.

Read in pari materia, these two rules establish that: 1) the State must always make its allegations as definite as possible; and 2) circumstances may exist where such a good-faith effort by the State will nevertheless be insufficient to protect the right of the accused to a fair trial.

Petitioner's case is not one in which the State has failed in its responsibility to allege a time-frame as narrowly as possible. It was accepted below that twenty-seven months was the best that the State could do. (R. 37). **Rather**, this case concerns Rule 3.140(o) and the ability of Petitioner to present a defense, as well as his right to be **protected** from multiple prosecutions.

Despite the fact that Rule 3.140(o) addresses itself to the court's "opinion," and never employs the word "prejudice," the Fourth District Court of Appeal has put the burden of proving prejudice on Petitioner:

We discern no basis for concluding that a defendant's rights, under the rules or due process, are violated where the state in good faith has framed the time as narrowly as reasonably possible and the defendant has failed to demonstrate to the court's satisfaction that specific prejudice resulted.

592 So.2d at 341.

This inflexible reasoning by the Fourth District would validate any time-frame selected by the State -- be it five years, ten years or twenty years -- unless the accused established "specific prejudice." But what would such prejudice entail? Generally, prejudice would be found in the inability to establish a prospective alibi for single or multiple dates during the period of years. The inherent unfairness of such excessive time-frames has already been recognized when the offense is not charged as being continuous in nature. See, State v. Barnett, 344 So.2d 863, 865 (Fla. 2d DCA 1977).

The reasoning of **the** Fourth District only exacerbates this inherent unfairness, viz., the greater the time-frame, **the** greater the difficulty in raising a prospective alibi, and thus the unlikelihood of

establishing specific prejudice. This reasoning of the Fourth District therefore becomes self-fulfilling.

The rationale of the Fourth District also directly conflicts with the opinion of the Fifth District in Goble v. State, 535 So.2d 706 (Fla. 5th DCA 1988), which concluded that to permit the State to allege two counts of sexual battery as occurring sometime during a period of approximately **two** and one-half years would "eviscerate" our system of criminal jurisprudence. 535 So.2d at 707.

The Goble opinion is based upon the earlier opinion of the Fifth District in Knight v. State, 506 So.2d 1182 (Fla. 5th DCA 1987), which holds that permitting the State to allege sexual batteries over periods of three or four years violates the requirement of Rule 3.140(d)(3), supra, that the time of the offense be stated "as definitely as possible."

Because of the reference in Knight to Rule 3.140(d)(3), Knight and Goble might arguably be read as cases wherein the State had not made sufficient efforts to narrow the time-frame. However, nothing in those opinions points to such a defalcation by the State. **Rather**, each opinion can be read fairly as holding that the respective time-frames were impracticable as a matter of law and that prejudice to the **accused** would

be presumed under Rule 3.140(o).¹

This confusion appears consistent with the Fifth District's own interpretation of its opinions in Knight and Goble:

8. The state argues that Tingley v. State, 549 So.2d 649 (Fla.1989), approving Tingley v. State, 495 So.2d 1181 (Fla. 5th DCA 1986) overruled our prior decisions of Goble v. State, 535 So.2d 706 (Fla. 5th DCA 1988) and Knight v. State, 506 So.2d 1182 (Fla. 5th DCA 1987). Because of our holding, we are not required to address this argument, but we do note that Tingley involved an information where the offenses were set forth in time periods of less than a year and were amended by way of a subsequent bill of particulars which amended the dates of the offenses in time periods which were also less than one year. The court in Tingley held that this subsequent bill of particulars was not an impermissible amendment which voided the indictment. In Goble and Knight, the time periods of the offenses covered a substantial time interval far in excess of one year. In Goble, the time period was in excess of 2½ years and in Knight the time periods involved in two of the offenses were 4 years and over 3 years. A resolution of whether the stated time period is proper may turn on whether the state exhausts its ability to define actual or reasonably approximate dates with respect to when the offenses were cam-

This view is further supported by logic, as only Rule 3.140(o) sets out the remedy of dismissal, while Rule 3,140(d)(3) "averbreadth" would be curable by amendment or by particulars.

mitted unless the court can say with any degree of certainty that the defendant will not be "hampered in preparation of his defense." State v. Yzaguirre, 569 So.2d 492, 493 (Fla. 2d DCA 1990).

State v. Theriault, 590 So.2d 993, 995 n.8 (Fla. 5th DCA 1991) (emphasis added).

The operative words in the above quotation are "may" and "unless." The above quotation recognizes that despite the State's best efforts to narrow a time-frame the court may presume prejudice from such length of time unless the State shows the absence of such prejudice. Compare, Lavigne v. State, 349 So.2d 178, 179 (Fla. 1st DCA 1977) (State has burden of showing lack of prejudice to defendant from failure to follow discovery rules).

Assuredly, this safeguard for the accused will be found rarely, viz., in those cases where it is impracticable for the State to be more particular and where the length of time likewise makes it impracticable to show specific prejudice. Rule 3.140(o), supra, recognizes that such situations can occur, and thus permits the remedy of dismissal where the "opinion" of the court is that the accused will be unduly prejudiced in **his** defense. The use of the word "opinion" is equivalent to granting the trial court discretion in striking a balance between the interests and rights of the State

and those of the accused. Such decisions should only be reviewable for abuse of discretion, and no such abuse is supported by this record.

CONCLUSION

There having been no showing that the trial court abused its discretion, the decision of the Fourth District Court of Appeal should be reversed with instructions to reinstate the order of dismissal.

If, however, this Court agrees with the decision of the Fourth District, the cause should be remanded for an evidentiary hearing on the question of "specific prejudice."