087

525  
**FILED**  
SID J. WHITE  
MAY 1 1992  
CLERK, SUPREME COURT  
By \_\_\_\_\_  
Chief Deputy Clerk

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA  
CASE NO. 79, 506

**DAVID DELL'ORFANO,**  
Petitioner,  
vs.  
STATE OF FLORIDA  
Respondent.

\*\*\*\*\*

\*\*\*\*\*

ANSWER BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

**ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH**  
Attorney General  
Tallahassee, Florida

**JOAN FOWLER**  
Senior Assistant Attorney  
General

**SARAH B. MAYER**  
Assistant Attorney General  
Florida Bar No. 367893  
111 Georgia Avenue, suite 204  
West Palm Beach, Florida 33401  
Telephone: (407) 837-5062

Counsel for Respondent

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Petitioner was the Defendant and Respondent was the prosecution in the Criminal Division of the Circuit Court of the Seventeenth Judicial Circuit, in and for Broward County, Florida; Petitioner was the Appellee and Respondent was the Appellant in the Fourth District Court of Appeal. In this brief, the parties shall be referred to as they appear before this Honorable Court except that Respondent may also be referred to as the State.

In this brief, the symbol "R" will be used to denote the record on appeal.

All emphasis in this brief is supplied by Respondent unless otherwise indicated.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Respondent accepts Petitioner's statement of the case and **facts** for purposes of **this** appeal, subject to the following additions, corrections, and/or clarifications:

The State asserted that it **was** unable, and Petitioner did not dispute this fact, to narrow the time frame more specifically; the trial court accepted this representation and **that a good faith** effort was **made to** by the State to narrow the time frame (R 5, **7-8, 10, 34, 38**). State v. Dell'Orfano, 592 So.2d **338, 339** (Fla. 4th DCA 1992).

On appeal, the Fourth District reversed the trial court's dismissal of charges against Petitioner, **holding** that the length of the time frame was not the sole **criteria** on which a dismissal of the information might be based. Dell'Orfano at 340. The Court noted that application of a **per se** rule would mandate dismissal even in cases where proof of **the** occurrence of the crime was evident, and **held** that where the **State** had in **good** faith framed the time as narrowly as possible, the trial court **should** not dismiss unless the defendant demonstrates to the trial court's satisfaction that he is specifically prejudiced in the preparation of his defense. Id. at 341. As there had been no showing of prejudice in this case, the **Fourth** District remanded for further proceedings.

### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The Fourth District correctly reversed the trial court's dismissal of charges against Petitioner where the State, despite the exercise of good faith, was unable to further narrow the time frame during which the offenses were alleged to have been committed, to less than a two and one-half year period, where there was no showing that the defendant would be prejudiced in the preparation of his defense. The Court's opinion that a per se rule of dismissal could result in injustice comports with established precedent of the State of Florida and must be approved.

## ARGUMENT

THE DISTRICT COURT CORRECTLY DETERMINED THAT A DEFENDANT MUST ESTABLISH ACTUAL PREJUDICE IN THE PREPARATION OF HIS DEFENSE **BEFORE A TRIAL COURT MAY DISMISS THE CHARGES AGAINST HIM WHERE THE STATE HAS EXERCISED GOOD FAITH IN TRYING, BUT BUT CAN NOT FURTHER NARROW THE TIME FRAME DURING WHICH THE CHARGED OFFENSE IS ALLEGED TO HAVE BEEN COMMITTED** (Restated).

Petitioner urges this Court to reverse the decision of the Fourth District below, and adhere to a per se rule of dismissal in circumstances where the State can not narrow the time during which the charged crime is alleged to have been committed to a period of time less than two **and** one-half years. Petitioner also argues that the State should have the burden of showing that a defendant is not prejudiced in the preparation of his defense by the State's inability to narrow the time frames. Respondent submits that the decision of the Fourth District in this case is correctly holds that use of a per se rule of dismissal could result in injustice, particularly where proof of a defendant's guilt is evident; further, Petitioner's suggestion that the State establish that a defendant is not prejudiced by the State's inability to narrow the time frames, is not workable, as only the defendant is in a position to know exactly what his defense will entail and how the span of time will hamper his defense.

In this case, the Petitioner was charged with one count of sexual battery on a child and three counts of indecent assault on a child (R 49). Initially the information charged that these offenses had occurred between the dates of August 1, 1985 and June

30, 1988, however, the State ultimately narrowed the time frame to a period of time between January 1986 and June 30, 1988 (R 37). The trial court found that it was undisputed that the State could not further narrow the time periods, but held that the time periods were too broad and dismissed the charges, without any consideration of how or whether Petitioner would be prejudiced in the preparation of his defense due to the State's inability to narrow the time (R 38-41). The Fourth District reversed, finding that a per se dismissal rule was not warranted, either by case law or the facts of this case. State v. Dell'Orfano, 592 So.2d 338 (Fla. 4th DCA 1992). Although Petitioner does not **ask** this Court to set a specific time which is presumptively broad enough to warrant dismissal of charges, his argument that the trial court make such a determination on a case by case basis, without consideration of the issue of prejudice to the defendant, is tantamount to suggesting that this Court approve application of a per se rule in this case: that is, that two and one-half years is too broad. Clearly such a position is contrary to established precedent.

As noted by the Fourth District in this case, exclusive of dicta in Knight v. State, 506 So.2d 1182 (Fla. 5th DCA 1987), relied on in Gable v. State, 535 So.2d 706 (Fla. 5th DCA 1988), there are **no** cases in Florida which approve dismissal of charges against a defendant where the State has made a good faith effort to narrow the time frame, unless the trial court has also made a determination that the defendant would be prejudiced in the preparation of his defense. Beginning with State v. Bandi, 338

So.2d 75 (Fla. 4th DCA 1976), cert. denied, 344 So.2d 323 (Fla. 1977), the Fourth District reversed a trial court's order dismissing indecent assault charges against the defendant where the State had fulfilled the requirements of the rules of criminal procedure by narrowing the time span as much as possible. The Court noted that where the exact time was not an element of the offense', the defendant could not make it so by claiming a possible alibi defense. Similarly, in State v. McGregor, 409 So.2d 504 (Fla 4th DCA 1982), the defendant was charged with accepting pecuniary benefit not authorized by law in connection with his duties as a building inspector during an eight month period between January 1, 1980 and September 1, 1980. When the State was unable to further narrow the time span, the defendant requested and was granted **the** sanction of dismissal of the charges. The Fourth District again reversed finding the sanction of dismissal to be too severe; the Court noted that the State had complied with the trial court's

---

<sup>1</sup> This Court has long recognized that, except where time is a substantive element of an offense, it is not necessary for the State to set forth the exact time the crime was committed if that time is unknown, so long as the State alleges the time frame with as much specificity as possible and so as long the defendant is afforded a full range of discovery and is not prejudiced in the preparation of his defense. Sparks v. State, 273 So.2d 74 (Fla. 1973); Tingley v. State, 549 So.2d 649 (Fla. 1989) (recognizing that time was not a substantive element of the offense of sexual battery of a minor); Lightbourne v. State, 438 So.2d 380 (Fla. 1983), cert. denied, 465 U.S. 1051, 104 S.Ct. 1330, 79 L.Ed.2d 725 (1984). See also: State v. Barnett, 344 So.2d 863 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1977), where time was a substantive element of the offense of bookmaking as the State was required to prove that the defendant **accepted more than five bets in any one day.**

order to furnish as narrow a **time as possible**<sup>2</sup> **and that the** defendant was not really prejudiced as he had filed a demand for speedy trial indicating that he had investigated his case and **was** prepared to go to trial.

Subsequently, in State v. Belton, 468 So.2d 495 (Fla. 5th DCA 1985), the Fifth District also reversed an order dismissing the charges against the defendant where the State was unable to narrow the time frame during which a boat motor was stolen to a period of time less than 6 days. The Court noted that established case law provided that it is proper for an information to allege that the crime occurred between two dates if the exact date of the offense is not known, except in those rare instances where the exact time is part of the nature of the offense. There, the Court held that the defendant was not prejudiced in the preparation of his defense, even though he had prepared an alibi defense, because the State had filed the amended information (broadening the time span) prior to the case being set for trial and he did not assert he had insufficient time to prepare a defense. Because the amended information contained the time frame of the original information, the defendant's alibi for that time frame was **still** of value. The Fifth District revisited the issue in Knight v. State, 506 So.2d 1182 (Fla. 5th DCA 1987), wherein the defendant was charged and convicted of two counts of sexual battery **on a child and one** count of sexual activity while in a position of familial authority.

---

<sup>2</sup> The Court held that the State did **not have the** burden of showing what it had done toward narrowing the time frame.

The information charged that the first sexual battery occurred between January 1, 1977 and December 31, 1980; that the second sexual battery occurred between January 1, 1981 and February 11, 1984; and that the third offense occurred between February 12, 1984 and December 31, 1984, although this time was later **narrowed** to between October 1, 1984 and December 31, 1984; the trial court denied the defendant's requests that **the State narrow the time frames** for the first and second counts. **The Court reversed the convictions for the first and second counts, noting that the victim, prior to trial, was able to recall the incidents in relation to her grade in school, yet the State made no effort to correlate either of the counts to her testimony, and found that the state's failure to narrow the time span, when it had the ability to do so distinguished the case from Belton, supra. While the Court noted in dicta that no reported Florida case had ever upheld such an indefinite time span and that to do so would "eviscerate" Rule 3.140(d) (3) Fla.R.Crim.P., it is clear from a reading of the entire opinion that the Court was concerned that the State had failed to comply with the rule requiring that the time of the commission of the offense be stated as definitely as possible, when the State had the ability to do so.**

Likewise in State v. Garcia, 511 So.2d 714 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1987), the Second District upheld the dismissal of three counts of sexual battery against the defendant where it appeared the State had the ability to allege the offenses with more specificity. There, the Court distinguished the holdings of Belton, supra, and

Bandi, supra, because in those cases the State had met its burden of stating the date of the offense as definitely **as** possible, while here the State did not. The Court did, however note that affirmance of the dismissal was without prejudice to the State to refile the charges alleging a more specific time span. The next reported case construing this issue is Goble v. State, 535 So.2d 706 (Fla. 5th DCA 1988), in which the Court reversed the trial court's denial of the defendant's motion to dismiss the sexual battery cases alleged to have occurred during a two and one-half year time span, relying on the dicta in Knight that no such indefinite time span had ever been upheld. Unfortunately, as noted by the Court in the instant case, the Goble opinion fails to reveal whether the State had the ability to narrow the time frame but failed to do so. Thus **the** State submits that either we must presume that the State did have the ability to narrow the time frame, or that Goble was wrongly decided, as it does not conform to the prior decisions of the courts of Florida.

After the decision in Gobel, the Fourth District affirmed the dismissal of sexual battery charges against a defendant, but without prejudice to the State to refile the charges based upon more certain time periods for the commission of the offenses in State v. DeBianchi, 538 So.2d 984 (Fla. 4th DCA 1989). Again, the opinion did not reveal whether the State had the ability to narrow the time frames, but in deciding this case, the Fourth District reviewed its files concerning the DeBianchi case and determined that the dismissal was based on the trial court's finding that the

State had the ability to narrow the time frames, **due** to the victims' ability to recall the acts in relation to other events in their lives, but elected not to do so. Dell'Orfano at 339-340.

Subsequently the Third District reversed the trial court's dismissal of sexual battery charges against the defendant despite the lower court's finding that the State had acted in good faith and had alleged the dates of the offenses with as much particularity as possible. State v. Jones, 539 So.2d 535 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1989). The Court held that in these circumstances a two-fold inquiry is required; first, the trial court must determine whether the State has the ability to further narrow the time frame and second, if does not, then the lower court must determine whether, under the time frame alleged, the defendant is prejudiced in the preparation of his defense. The Court found that while it is proper to dismiss charges on the basis of time frame specificity where the State has the ability to be more specific but fails to do so, it was error to dismiss the charges in the face of a finding that the State in good faith could not have further narrowed the time frame. In reviewing the defendant's claims that he was **prejudiced** in the preparation of his defense, the Court found that they were without merit, as they were "**in** actuality ... an argument concerning the credibility of the state's witnesses and the sufficiency of the state's case in chief." Id. at 538. Regarding the defendant's double jeopardy claim, the Court found that as a matter of **law** the defendant was protected from prosecution for **the** same offense for the same time period alleged in the information.

There, the Third District squarely held that charges against a defendant should not be dismissed where the State can not narrow the time frame, absent a finding that the defendant is prejudiced in the preparation of his defense.

Still more recently, the Second District in State v. Yzaquirre, 569 So.2d 492 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1990), reversed the dismissal of sexual battery charges, holding that dismissal could "rest only on a finding that the state, contrary to its representations, failed to exhaust avenues of inquiry which may have produced more precise dates identifying the periods Yzaquirre's alleged criminal conduct" and remanded for determination of that issue. Id. at 492. Finally, the Fifth District again revisited the issue in State v. Theriault, 590 So.2d 993 (Fla. 5th DCA 1991), although in that decision the Court noted that the trial court's dismissal was not based on **the** State's failure to narrow the time frames during which the sexual batteries were alleged to have been committed, but **was** based on the prosecutor's willful violation of the rules of discovery by filing false statements of particulars when the prosecutor knew the time frames were narrower. There, the Court reversed **the** dismissal, finding that the sanction of dismissal **was** too severe and that he defendant had failed **to** establish that **he** suffered actual prejudice a result of the State's misconduct.

Additionally, review of another area of the law in which the passage of time could impair a defendant's ability to prepare for trial, i.e. preaccusatorial delay, also reveals that in those

circumstances as well, not only is the State's conduct examined to determine good faith, but the prejudice which might have inured to the defendant due to the State's actions must also be established before the radical sanction of dismissal is imposed. In such, courts examine both the State's reasons for delay in bringing the charges and the prejudice to the accused in the preparation of **his** defense due to the delay; in the absence of intentional conduct by the prosecution, prejudice to the accused is the most important factor and the defendant bears the burden of proving actual prejudice resulting from the delay. State v. Hills, 467 So.2d 845 (Fla. 4th DCA 1985); State v. Borges, 467 So.2d 375 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1985), petition for review denied 476 So.2d 672 (Fla. 1985); Marrero v. State, 428 So.2d 304 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1983); Howell v. State, 418 So.2d 1164 (Fla. 1st DCA 1982).

Where the State causes charges to be brought against a defendant as soon as probable cause exists to link the defendant with the alleged offense, that is where **the** State has exercised good faith in charging the defendant as soon as possible, the defendant is required to demonstrate actual and material prejudice and general allegations of prejudice are insufficient. Borges, supra; Hills, supra. The Court in Hills, held that a defendant's general allegation that evidence had been lost was insufficient; rather, the Court stated that a defendant must also offer some explanation as to how the lost evidence would have been favorable and material. Id. at 848. Similarly in Marrero, supra, the Court held that the defendant's complaints that due to the long delay,

several persons who participated in a drug conspiracy meeting were absent from trial, that he could no longer recall the identities of several of participants in the transactions so as to call them as defense witnesses, and that he could no longer recall the exact nature of any particular telephone call or to whom he spoke in response to the evidence that numerous calls had been made from his residence and business to other conspirators, while causing him some prejudice, were insufficient to warrant dismissal of the charges; the Court further noted that the defendant had failed to demonstrate how the "lost" evidence would have been material and favorable. The First District in Howell, supra, held that the defendant had failed to meet his burden of demonstrating prejudice where he claimed that his faded memory and the faded memories of his friends impaired his ability to prepare a defense. The Court held that as Howell had failed to show in what material way these faded memories caused him actual prejudice, speculative allegations as to faded memories simply did not suffice to prove actual prejudice. Id. at 1170. The Court also noted that the fading of witnesses' memories with time may disadvantage the State far more than the accused because the State carries the burden of proof. Id. at 1168.

The State submits that if a defendant whose arrest has been delayed must show actual and material prejudice before he is entitled to dismissal of the charges, so too must a defendant who is charged with a crime encompassing a broad period of time. Here, the Petitioner not only failed to show actual and material

prejudice, he offered no evidence of how was prejudiced in the preparation of his defense, but simply asserted that the two **and** one-half year time period **was** too long (R 4-41, 41), and by failing to make even a colorable showing of prejudice, he should not be entitled to dismissal of these charges.

Petitioner argues that the Fifth District's decision in Therriault and the First District's decision in Lavigne v. State, 349 So.2d 178 (Fla. 1st DCA 1977), allow the trial court to presume prejudice, unless the State establishes otherwise. Initially, it must be noted that each of those cases involve the issue of the propriety of the sanction of dismissal where the State has violated the discovery rules by failing to provide a defendant with material to which he is entitled; that is, where the State, by some willful conduct of its own, has deprived the defendant access to information, which the State has in its possession, which might have prejudiced the defendant in the preparation of his defense. Clearly those are different circumstances from here, where the State has not engaged in willful misconduct, but has made a good faith effort to comply with the rules of criminal procedure. Nonetheless, neither of those cases require dismissal of charges where there has been no showing of prejudice to the defendant, as transpired below. Further, the issue of prejudice is a different consideration in broad time span cases than it is in discovery violation cases. In discovery violation cases, where the State can show that a defendant had knowledge of the withheld information from other sources, or that he could prepare his case having

received he withheld information by being granted a continuance without violating his speedy trial rights, or that the defendant failed to timely bring the State's noncompliance with discovery to the trial court's attention, or that the State could not have **provided** the information at an earlier date, the State has met its burden of showing that **its** misconduct **has not** prejudiced the defendant. Leeman v. State, 357 So.2d 703 (Fla. 1978); Richardson v. State, 246 So.2d 771 (Fla. 1971); Therriault, supra; State v. Del Gaudio, 445 So.2d 605 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1984). However, in broad time frame cases, requiring the State to show **that the** defendant's defense will not be impaired **even though evidence has been lost or** destroyed, or that a defendant's memory of events is not sufficiently specific to cover the time span, or that witnesses are no longer available, or that the defendant can not present an alibi for the time frame, is unreasonable, if **not impossible, as the** State has no right to question the defendant about his defense **unless he elects to testify at trial.** Clearly the State can not be required to prove prejudice in these circumstances, particularly after the State has shown that it has, in good faith, narrowed the time span as much as it could.

Thus the State submits that, with the exception of Goble, the decision of the Fourth District in this case clearly comports with established decisional law of this State and must be affirmed. Obviously, particularly in cases involving sexual abuse on small children, it is difficult, if not impossible, for the State to allege the dates of the offense with the same specificity as in